FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/11/2022 11:28 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101162-8

NO. 82132-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

LARRY L. ROEMMICH and GLORIA ROEMMICH, husband and wife,

Respondents,

v.

3M COMPANY,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sidney C. Tribe, WSBA No. CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Nancy M. Erfle, WSBA No. 20644
GORDON REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI
1300 SW Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Portland, OR 97201

Telephone: (503) 382-3852

L. Michael Brooks, Jr., Pro Hac Vice
Wells, Anderson & Race,
LLC

I. Introduction

In this product liability case involving a respirator, the Court of Appeals incorrectly held the substantial-factor standard was the exclusive means for determining cause-in-fact. The court reasoned that the traditional but-for standard didn't apply because the plaintiff had an asbestos-related illness, and the precise sources of his asbestos exposures could not be determined. Roemmich v. 3M Co., 21 Wn. App. 2d, 939, 952, 509 P.3d 306 (2022) (No. 82132-6-I, slip op. at 10, attached hereto as App. A). For well over a century, this Court has declared butfor the customary test to determine cause-in-fact in negligence cases. See Meyers v. Ferndale Sch. Dist., 197 Wn.2d 281, 289, 481 P.3d 1084 (2021); Gray v. Wash. Water Power Co., 27 Wash. 713, 718, 68 P. 360 (1902). Only a handful of exceptions to the but-for standard are recognized; the substantial-factor test is applied in those discrete circumstances. The substantial-factor test is used to evaluate liability in cases involving multipledefendant asbestos manufacturers or distributors. However, the 3M 8710 respirator (a safety product) didn't contain asbestos. Rather, when used correctly in an environment for which it was designed, the 3M 8710 respirator reduced the user's exposures to harmful substances like asbestos.

Reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeals held that it had abused its discretion by instructing the jury on both standards, and instead should have instructed the jury only on the substantial-factor standard. The Court of Appeals approached this as an asbestos-products case even though there were no asbestos defendants at trial, noting "Roemmich was exposed to asbestos by a number of parties, so individual responsibility for the harm cannot be proved under the 'but for' test." Slip. op. at 10. It was undisputed that 3M was not one of the parties who exposed Mr. Roemmich to asbestos, rather its product reduced his exposures. The Court of Appeals ignored this evidence, finding instead that "mesothelioma was a cumulative harm where the exact event or party that caused the harm could not be identified," rendering substantial-factor the sole applicable factual cause test. Slip op. at 12.

In holding that the evidence supported an instruction limited to the substantial-factor standard, the Court of Appeals relied heavily on Plaintiffs' evidence about alleged design defects in the 3M 8710 respirator (slip op. at 10, 12). The jury, in fact, rejected that evidence—when asked if the 8710 was "not reasonably safe" in its design and warnings, they answered "no." The Court of Appeals affirmed the no-defect portion of the verdict, even while crediting Plaintiffs' defect evidence to support the substantial-factor instruction.

Review under these circumstances is warranted. This Court should decide the novel issue presented here: whether the manufacturer of a defect-free respirator, or other asbestos *protective* product, should be subjected to the same causation standard customarily reserved for those who created and distributed harmful asbestos.

II. Identity of the Petitioner and Decision

Petitioner is 3M Company, manufacturer of the 3M 8710 respirator. 3M seeks review of the published decision in *Roemmich v. 3M Co.*, No. 82132-6-I (attached as Appendix).

III. Issues for Review

1. The "but-for" causation standard is the traditional means of establishing cause-in-fact. The use of the substantial-factor standard is justified in limited circumstances, such as when a plaintiff was exposed to multiple defendants' asbestos products, and can't establish which defendant's asbestos caused the injury. Is it a matter of substantial public interest for this Court to review whether the manufacturer of products designed to protect people from asbestos should be subjected to the same causation test reserved for those responsible for exposing people to asbestos?

2. Did the Court of Appeals misapply this Court's precedential holdings by determining that substantial-factor was the only appropriate factual causation test for the Roemmiches' claims against 3M?

IV. Statement of the Case

Plaintiff Larry Roemmich began work as an insulator at the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard in 1968. RP 1744. From 1968 to 1972, he was exposed daily to airborne amosite asbestos while working aboard Navy ships. RP 1075. He used a respirator made by a different manufacturer during the 1968-72 period, RP 1744-45, but wore that respirator only some of the time. RP 2274. Plaintiffs' medical expert admitted that Roemmich's asbestos dose from 1968 to 1972—before he ever put on a 3M respirator—was sufficient to cause his mesothelioma. RP 960-61.

In 1972, Roemmich moved from working aboard ships to an insulating shop, where his asbestos exposures were much

lower than those he had received when working as an insulator (pre-1972). RP 1018-39, 2118. Also in 1972, the 3M 8710 respirator was certified for use as protection against many kinds of dusts, including asbestos. RP 1153-55, 1405, 1505, 1520-22. Roemmich claimed to have used a 3M 8710 respirator while working in the shop, RP 2201-03. Decades later, he was diagnosed with mesothelioma and filed this lawsuit.

3M was the only defendant at trial, and the only product at issue was a safety product that didn't contain asbestos. RP 255. Recognizing that this was not a traditional asbestos case, the trial court instructed the jury on the definitions of "proximate cause" based on both the but-for and substantial-factor standards. CP 1665.

Before trial, Plaintiffs tendered a non-pattern jury instruction for the substantial-factor test. CP 660. The instruction was based partly on *Lockwood v. A C & S*, 109 Wn.2d 235, 268, 744 P.2d 605 (1987) and *Mavroudis v. Pitt.-Corning Corp.*, 86 Wn. App. 22, 28, 935 P.2d 684 (1997).

3M tendered a but-for causation instruction taken directly from WPI 15.01, reflecting the fact that Washington law does not support using a substantial-factor test outside the context of asbestos-containing products. CP 703. 3M later tendered a different instruction that offered but-for and substantial-factor as alternative tests for causation. CP 1516, 1600.

The trial court heard argument on jury instructions before the close of evidence. CP 3013-36, 3173-86. It then gave the jury final instructions, which included a causation instruction the court prepared on its own. CP 1665; RP 3203-04. The trial court's instruction on proximate cause combined the text of WPI 15.01 and WPI 15.02 with introductory language found in Plaintiffs' originally tendered causation instruction:

[1] If two or more causes combine to bring about an injury, the term "proximate cause" means a cause that was a substantial factor in bringing about the injury even if the injury would have occurred without that cause.

1636-42.

Late in the trial, Plaintiffs tendered an alternative proximate cause instruction based on the specific text of WPI 15.02. CP

[2] If two or more causes did not combine to bring about an injury, the term "proximate cause" means a cause which in a direct sequence unbroken by any superseding cause produces the injury complained of and without which such injury would not have happened.

[3] There may be more than one proximate cause of an injury.

CP 1665; RP 3203-04 (bracketed numbers and emphasis added).

In essence, the court combined the text of WPI 15.01 (butfor causation) and WPI 15.02 (substantial-factor causation) in instructing the jury, and allowed the parties to argue their respective causation theories in closing.

The jury found the 3M 8710 respirator reasonably safe in its design, warnings, and instructions. CP 1643. Finding no defect, the jury followed the directions on the verdict form and bypassed the question asking whether any defect was a proximate cause of Roemmich's mesothelioma. CP 1644. The jury separately found that 3M was negligent, but that any negligence by 3M wasn't a proximate cause of Roemmich's

injuries. CP 1644. The Roemmiches didn't challenge any inconsistencies in the jury's verdict.

The Roemmiches appealed the jury verdict, asserting that the trial court had reversibly erred in its instruction on proximate cause, as well as a separate instruction on 3M's superseding-cause defense. Based on these instructional-error arguments, Plaintiffs sought a new trial on their negligence claim, the only claim on which the jury found no causation.

The Roemmiches also argued that the trial court had abused its discretion in excluding their expert on consumer survey research and limiting the testimony of one of two product-defect experts. Based on these claims of evidentiary error, Plaintiffs sought a new trial on their strict-liability claims for design defect and failure to warn.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's evidentiary decisions regarding the Roemmiches' experts, and thereby affirmed the jury's findings "that 3M's 8710 respirator was reasonably safe in design and contained adequate warnings and

instructions." Slip op. at 2, 21. Nevertheless, the appellate court relied on product-defect evidence the Roemmiches' presented at trial (even though that evidence was rejected by the jury) to conclude that the but-for causation test was unsupported. So, even though the appellate court affirmed the jury's finding that the 3M 8710 respirator was reasonably safe in its design and warnings, it falsely concluded that "[t]he evidence at trial established that 3M's mask contributed at least in part to Roemmich's exposure and harm.... Applying the 'but-for' causation test would absolve 3M of responsibility despite this evidence." Slip op. at 12. Of course, the jury's no-defect finding absolved 3M of responsibility even without an analysis of causation, a fact the appellate court never considered.

The reviewing court went even further, asserting that, as legal matter, substantial-factor "should be used in cases where it is difficult to establish the exact event or party that caused the harm." Slip op. at 10. Essentially, the appellate court found that the trial court had erred in giving the causation instruction that

included the customary but-for standard. The appellate court also concluded, based on the same product-defect evidence rejected by the jury, that the trial court had abused its discretion by instructing the jury on the superseding-cause defense, rendering the instruction inappropriate. Slip op. at 16. The appellate court then considered the combined prejudice of the two instructional errors it had found and concluded that a new trial was required on the negligence claim due to prejudice. Slip op. at 17.

V. The Published Opinion Merits Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

1. The but-for test is the default causation standard in Washington.

The Court of Appeals' analysis of the applicable causation standard is in conflict with this Court's decision on when to apply the substantial-factor test—a narrow exception to the but-for test. This case also raises issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme

Court, meriting the exercise of discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

Washington follows the but-for standard for cause-infact, asking whether, but for the defendant's actions the plaintiff's injury would have occurred. *Glacier Nw., Inc. v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters Local Union No. 174*, 198 Wn.2d 768, 803, 500 P.3d 119 (2021). As such, it focuses on "the physical connection between an act and an injury." *Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 778, 698 P.2d 77 (1985); *Budd v. Kaiser Gypsum Co.*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 56, 73, 505 P.3d 120 (2022).

But-for causation requires a showing that: "(1) the cause produced the injury in a direct sequence, and (2) the injury would not have happened in the absence of the cause." *Anaya Gomez v. Sauerwein*, 180 Wn.2d 610, 624, 331 P.3d 19 (2014); *see also Hartley*, 103 Wn.2d at 777.

The substantial-factor test is an "exception to the general rule of proving but for causation and requires that a plaintiff prove that the defendant's alleged act or omission

was a substantial factor in causing the plaintiff's injury, even if the injury could have occurred anyway." *Mohr v. Grantham*, 172 Wn.2d 844, 852-53, 262 P.3d 490 (2011); *Fabrique v. Choice Hotels Int'l, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 675, 684, 183 P.3d 1118 (2008).

This Court has held that, in certain circumstances, the substantial-factor standard is appropriate to use:

- [W]here either one of two causes would have produced the identical harm, thus making it impossible for plaintiff to prove the "but for" test;
- [W]here a similar, but not identical, result would have followed without the defendant's act; or
- [W]here one defendant has made a clearly proven but quite insignificant contribution to the result, as where he throws a lighted match into a forest fire.

Dunnington v. Va. Mason Med. Ctr., 187 Wn.2d 629, 634-35, 389 P.3d 498 (2017); Daugert v. Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254, 262, 704 P.2d 600 (1985); W. Page Keeton, Dan B.

Dobbs, Robert E. Keeton & David G. Owen, *Prosser and Keeton on Torts* § 41 (5th ed. 1984).

The three circumstances identified in the bullet points above constitute a "narrow class of cases. *Dunnington*, 187 Wn.2d at 636. Specifically, it applies to cases where "a plaintiff is unable to show that one event alone was the cause of the injury." *Daugert*, 104 Wn.2d at 262; WPI 15.02 Comment. Since *Daugert*, Washington courts have applied the substantial-factor test in only three types of cases—those involving:

- discrimination or unfair employment practices;
- securities; and
- toxic-tort cases, including multi-supplier asbestos injury cases.

Fabrique, 144 Wn. App. at 685.²

loss-of-a-chance cases.

The *Fabrique* court listed a fourth category, medical-malpractice cases involving the loss of a chance. But, in *Dunnington*, 187 Wn.2d at 640, this Court clarified that the but-for test applies in

Under the substantial-factor test, "[w]hen the conduct of two or more actors is so related to an event that their combined conduct, viewed as a whole, is a but-for cause of the event, and application of the but-for rule to them individually would absolve all of them, the conduct of each is a cause in fact of the event." *Keeton et al.*, *supra*, § 41.

The substantial-factor test doesn't offer a path around butfor causation in all or even many cases. It is reserved only for
"combined active conduct" cases where multiple tortfeasors
might each escape liability if but-for causation were applied. *See*Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 262. But, "[t]he only 'combined active
conduct' cases in which the substantial factor test is needed are
those in which the defendant's conduct was by itself sufficient to
accomplish the harm but didn't seem to be a but-for cause of the
harm because it was fortuitously joined by the causal conduct of
another that was also by itself sufficient to accomplish the harm."

David W. Robertson, W. Page Keeton Symposium on Tort Law:

The Common Sense of Cause in Fact, 75 Tex. L. Rev. 1765, 1778 (June 1997).

The "word 'substantial' is used to denote the fact that the defendant's conduct has such an effect in producing the harm" that a reasonable person would "regard it as a cause, using that word in the popular sense, in which there always lurks the idea of responsibility, rather than in the so-called 'philosophic sense,' which includes every one of the great number of events without which any happening would not have occurred." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 431 cmt. a (1965).

Under section 432 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, an actor's negligent conduct is *not* a substantial factor in bringing about harm if the harm would have occurred even if the actor had not been negligent. *Herrington v. Hawthorne*, 111 Wn. App. 824, 831, 47 P.3d 567 (2002). It is true that a defendant's negligence can be a substantial factor, even if there is another, independent, force actively operating to cause the harm. But even under substantial-factor analysis, a particular defendant is liable only if

that defendant's negligence would have *sufficed* to cause the harm *on its own. Id.*; *see* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 432 (1965); *see also State v. Meekins*, 125 Wn. App. 390, 397, 105 P.3d 420 (2005). In other words, to be a *substantial* factor, an alleged cause must be *sufficient* to cause injury. *See Hanford Nuclear Rsrv. Litig. v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co.*, 534 F.3d 986, 1010-11 (9th Cir. 2008) (rejecting reading of Washington law allowing substantial-factor test to supplant but-for causation in virtually all toxic tort cases).³

With this background, it isn't surprising that some courts—including Washington's—apply the substantial-factor test to asbestos personal-injury claims against multiple asbestos-

_

See Coulbourn v. Crane Co., 728 F. App'x 679, 681 (9th Cir. 2018); United States v. Aguirre, 448 F. App'x 670, 674 (9th Cir. 2011); June v. Union Carbide Corp., 577 F.3d 1234, 1245 (10th Cir. 2009); Basko v. Sterling Drug, Inc., 416 F.2d 417, 429 (2d Cir. 1969); Maryland v. Exxon Mobil Corp., 406 F. Supp. 3d 420, 455 (D. Md. 2019); Joshi v. Providence Health Sys. of Or. Corp., 108 P.3d 1195, 1198 (Or. Ct. App. 2005); Wilkins v. Lamoille Cnty. Mental Health Servs., 889 A.2d 245, 250 (Vt. 2005).

product manufacturers. As one court explained: "Asbestos is known to cause ... mesothelioma, and that this product is a sufficient cause of harm is rarely a contested issue in asbestos litigation. Thus, since asbestos in itself is sufficient to cause harm, the substantial factor test has been properly applied . . . to determine whether there has been adequate proof of causation." *Aldridge v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 34 F. Supp. 2d 1010, 1020 (D. Md. 1999), *rev'd on other grounds*, 223 F.3d 263 (4th Cir. 2000).

2. The Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with *Mavroudis v. Pittsburgh-Corning*.

In Mavroudis, 86 Wn. App. at 22, a case involving defendants who made asbestos-containing products, the appellate court approved a substantial-factor jury instruction, stating: "If you find that two or more causes have combined to bring about an injury and any one of them operating alone would have been sufficient to cause the injury, each cause is considered to be a proximate cause of the injury if it is a substantial factor in bringing it about, even though the result would have occurred

without it." *Id.* at 28 (emphasis added). The *Mavroudis* court concluded that *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 896 P.2d 682 (1995), didn't "require a showing that an individual defendant's contribution to the pesticide cloud would have been sufficient to cause the injury." *Mavroudis*, 86 Wn. App. at 30. But there was no question that *all* of the individual products at issue in both *Hue* and *Mavroudis* were capable of causing the claimed injuries. *See id.* at 29-30. The evidence in *Mavroudis* prompted "a rational jury to find that exposure to Kaylo, standing alone, would have been sufficient to cause Mr. Mavroudis to contract mesothelioma." *Id.* at 31.

This case is different. The 3M 8710 respirator didn't contain asbestos. Standing alone, it was incapable of causing any harm; it didn't do anything but reduce exposure to asbestos. Thus, this is not the type of case contemplated by section 432(2) of the Restatement. Instead, the traditional but-for causation test should apply. Unlike *Mavroudis*, there aren't multiple defendants whose products were independently capable of

causing harm, and who could escape liability if a but-for causation test were applied. The only defendant at trial was a non-asbestos defendant, and the only product at issue was a non-harmful respirator, necessitating the but-for test.

3. Even assuming *arguendo* that giving both a butfor and a substantial-factor instruction was erroneous, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's precedent regarding harmless error in jury instructions.

Even an erroneous jury instruction should be subjected to harmless-error analysis. *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers*, *15*1 Wn.2d 203, 211, 87 P.3d 757 (2004). This Court has made clear that such analysis is not merely an option for appellate courts, but a duty. *State v. Britton*, 27 Wn.2d 336, 341, 178 P.2d 341 (1947) ("[I]t becomes our duty, whenever such a question is raised, to scrutinize the entire record in each particular case, and determine whether or not the error was harmless or prejudicial.").

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