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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals’ Decision Does Not Conflict 
with Decisions of This Court or the Court of Appeals 
(RAP 1.4(b)(1)-(2)). 

1. The Court of Appeals’ Decision Does Not Conflict 
with Mavroudis. 

a. Mavroudis Applies the Substantial Factor 
Test and Provides Strong Support for the 
Court of Appeals’ Decision. 

3M’s primary complaint is that the Court of Appeals 

confirmed that substantial factor causation applies in multi-

exposure asbestos cases.  It maintains—contrary to all 

Washington authority—that “but for” causation should apply.  

3M bases its petition for review on a purported conflict with the 

Court of Appeals’ decision in Mavroudis.  Its principal 

argument is that the products at issue in Mavroudis and other 

cases applying the substantial factor test involved products that 

were toxic in and of themselves, while the 3M mask contained 

no asbestos.   

Contrary to 3M’s assertion, Mavroudis does not stand for 

the proposition that only asbestos product manufacturers and 
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suppliers are subject to the substantial factor test.  Instead, it is 

the nature of the plaintiff’s claims, the plaintiff’s exposure, and 

the plaintiff’s burden of proof that require application of the 

substantial factor test.  The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed 

the issue, and its decision is entirely consistent with—and 

certainly does not conflict with—the Court of Appeals’ 

decision in Mavroudis.   

In Mavroudis, after extensive discussion of this Court’s 

reasoning in Daugert v. Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254, 262, 704 P.2d 

600 (1985), and Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc., 127 Wn.2d 

67, 87-88, 896 P.2d 682 (1995), the Court of Appeals held that 

the substantial factor test should be used in asbestos injury 

cases where all the plaintiff’s exposures play a role in causing 

disease.  Mavroudis, 26 Wn. App. at 29-32.  The court noted 

expert testimony that “all of the plaintiff’s exposure probably 

played a role in causing the injury and that it is not possible to 

determine which exposures were, in fact, the cause of the 

condition.”  Id. at 32.  The court concluded that requiring a 
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plaintiff to meet the heightened “but for” causation standard 

would be impossible and inappropriate in asbestos cases 

because the alleged harm resulting from all the plaintiff’s 

exposures is the same injury: asbestos disease.  Id. at 30.   

The record here mirrors precisely what the court relied 

upon to justify application of the substantial factor test in 

Mavroudis.  It was uncontested at trial that Mr. Roemmich 

sustained multiple exposures to asbestos and that his 

mesothelioma was a result of his cumulative dose exposure to 

asbestos—regardless of whether the exposure was attributable 

to 3M’s defective mask or some other source.28  Plaintiffs’ 

medical expert Carl Brodkin, MD, MPH provided virtually 

identical testimony in this case, explaining that all asbestos 

exposures contributed to Mr. Roemmich’s mesothelioma and it 

was not possible to discern which specific exposure caused the 

injury.  Under the asbestos-specific holding in Mavroudis, the 

 
28 2 RP 877-80. 
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Roemmiches were entitled to the substantial factor causation 

instruction.  Because the Court of Appeals’ decision does not 

conflict with Mavroudis, review is not warranted under RAP 

13.4(b)(2) and 3M’s petition should be denied.   

b. 3M’s Efforts to Manufacture a Conflict with 
Washington Precedent Easily Fail. 

Because the Court of Appeals’ analysis is consistent with 

Mavroudis, 3M resorts to a series of misleading and irrelevant 

arguments to manufacture a conflict.  3M contends that Dr. 

Brodkin’s testimony established that the pre-1972 exposures 

were sufficient to cause disease.  But the Court of Appeals 

correctly pointed out that Dr. Brodkin’s opinion on this matter 

was hypothetical: 

Dr. Brodkin explained that this was a hypothetical 
because mesothelioma is a dose-response disease 
and it was also true that a worker like Roemmich, 
whose asbestos exposure continued on for another 
eight years, would be at increased risk for 
mesothelioma. He testified that it is an aggregate 
risk and that both of those periods resulted in the 
aggregate dose that led to his mesothelioma. 
Ultimately, he testified that all of Roemmich’s 
asbestos exposures contributed to his injury and it 
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was not possible to discern which specific exposure 
caused the injury.  

Roemmich v. 3M Co., 21 Wn. App. 2d 939, 950-51, 509 P.3d 

306 (2022).  Thus, the Court of Appeals agreed with Mavroudis 

that it was impossible to determine which exposures were the 

cause of disease.29 

3M also attempts to differentiate cases that involve 

alternative asbestos exposures from cases like this one that 

involve a product that did not contain asbestos.  This is a false 

distinction.  While 3M’s product did not contain asbestos, the 

mechanism of harm is the same as any other product or 

 
29 3M also claims that the Court of Appeals improperly 
determined that the substantial factor causation standard applies 
when it is merely “difficult” to establish causation.  This 
mischaracterizes the opinion’s analysis which relied on the 
impossibility of the plaintiffs’ burden.  Further, noting the 
difficulty of a plaintiff’s burden of proof has been a theme of 
seminal Washington authority on asbestos, Lockwood v. 
AC&S., Inc., 109 Wn.2d 235, 248, 268, 744 P.2d 605 (1987), 
and application of the substantial factor test, Sharbono v. 
Universal Underwriters Ins. Co., 139 Wn. App. 383, 420, 161 
P.3d 406 (2007) (“The substantial factor test is appropriate in 
these cases, where causation is difficult to prove, largely due to 
public policy considerations that strongly favor eradication of 
discrimination and unfair employment practices.”).   
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misconduct at issue in asbestos injury cases: exposure to 

asbestos that, absent the defendant’s misfeasance, would not 

have occurred.  The resulting injury is also the same:  

mesothelioma.  In this case—like every other asbestos case—it 

is the combined effect of multiple parties who caused Mr. 

Roemmich to be exposed to asbestos in sufficient amounts to 

cause his disease.  No basis exists, therefore, to apply a 

different causation standard to 3M when its mask contributed to 

this cumulative exposure. 

Indeed, contrary to 3M’s argument, Washington courts 

have consistently held that liability for asbestos exposure 

extends to defendants who never manufactured or sold 

asbestos-containing products, including respirator 

manufacturers.  See Macias, 175 Wn.2d at 402 (safety product 

manufacturers); Woo v. General Electric Co., 198 Wn. App. 

496, 393 P.3d 869 (2017) (equipment manufacturers); Arnold v. 

Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 157 Wn. App. 649, 240 P.3d 162 

(2010) (premises owners).  To accept 3M’s proposition that the 
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substantial factor causation standard applies only to asbestos 

product manufacturers and sellers would allow countless non-

manufacturer defendants to escape liability under the “but for” 

test even where their negligence, as here, contributed to the 

plaintiff’s injurious exposures.   

Additionally, there is substantial Washington precedent 

applying the substantial factor causation standard to non-

product defendants outside of asbestos litigation.  In Hue v. 

Farmboy Spray Co., 127 Wn.2d 67, 70, 896 P.2d 682 (1995), 

substantial factor causation applied to both the manufacturers of 

the toxic pesticide as well as the landowners of the farms who 

purchased the pesticides.  In City of Benton v. Adrian, 50 Wn. 

App. 330, 342, 748 P.2d 679 (1988), substantial factor 

causation applied to a claim against landowners in a nuisance 

flooding case.   

In the medical malpractice context, too, substantial factor 

causation can apply.  See, e.g., Herskovits v. Group Health Co-

op. of Puget Sound, 99 Wn.2d 609, 664 P.2d 474 (1983).  This 
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Court’s opinion applying substantial factor in the Herskovits 

case illustrates the flaws in 3M’s argument.  In Herskovits, the 

defendant health care provider negligently failed to diagnose 

the plaintiff with lung cancer, thus reducing his chances of 

survival from 36 to 25 percent.  Id. at 610-11, 614.  In holding 

that this reduction was sufficient to take the issue of proximate 

cause to the jury, the Court observed that “the defendant’s act 

or omission failed in a duty to protect against harm from 

another source.  Thus . . . the fact finder is put in the position of 

having to consider not only what did occur, but also what might 

have occurred.”  Id. at 616 (citing Hamil v. Bashline, 481 Pa. 

256, 392 A.2d 1280 (1978)).  The Court concluded that “once a 

plaintiff has demonstrated that the defendant’s acts or 

omissions . . . have increased the risk of harm to another, such 

evidence furnishes a basis for the fact finder to go further and 

find that such increased risk was in turn a substantial factor in 

bringing about the resultant harm.”  Id. at 617.  Here, like in 

Herskovits, Plaintiffs have alleged—and provided evidence to 
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show—that 3M’s negligence failed to protect Mr. Roemmich 

from harm, increased his asbestos exposure, and thus increased 

his risk of developing mesothelioma.  All Washington authority 

supports this Court of Appeals decision that substantial factor 

causation—and only substantial factor causation—can apply 

here.30  For this reason too, the Court should deny review of 

this issue.    

Lastly, 3M repeatedly claims that “[t]he jury found that 

the 3M 8710 respirator was reasonably safe in its design and 

 
30 Other jurisdictions, too, have confirmed that substantial factor 
causation is the correct standard when considering claims 
against a mask manufacturer in asbestos cases.  See Kilty v. 
Weyerhaeuser Co., No. 16-CV-515-WMC, 2018 WL 2464470, 
at *7 (W.D. Wis. June 1, 2018) (noting that the plaintiffs’ 
burden under Wisconsin law is to establish—under either a 
strict liability or negligence theory—that the exposure to 
asbestos caused by 3M’s defective mask was a substantial 
contributing factor to their mesothelioma diagnoses); Lafrentz 
v. Lockheed Martin Corp., No. 4:18-CV-4229, 2021 WL 
4350175, at *2 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 10, 2021) (observing that under 
Texas law, the plaintiff was required to show that while he was 
wearing the 3M mask, the dose of asbestos was a substantial 
factor in causing his mesothelioma because the 8710 Respirator 
did not sufficiently protect him from asbestos in products 
manufactured by others).   
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warnings.”31  3M’s motion is unclear about why this entitled it 

to a “but for” causation instruction.  In any event, 3M’s 

interpretation of the jury’s verdict is false, and its assertions that 

the jury affirmatively found that the 8710 mask was 

“reasonably safe” and that its product was “defect free” are 

misleading at best.  The jury’s verdict contained no such 

finding and there were no special interrogatories on the safety 

of the 8710 mask.  Rather, the jury simply found that Plaintiffs 

failed to carry their burden of proof on their strict product 

liability claim.  Peculiarly absent from 3M’s factual recitation is 

the critical point that the jury found 3M negligent. 

 The trial court’s instructions to the jury allowed the jury 

to find the 3M mask defective under either a products liability 

theory or a negligence theory.  At the conclusion of trial, the 

jury was instructed as follows on Plaintiffs’ two lability claims: 

The plaintiff brings this action against the 
defendant on the basis of two separate claims: 
 

 
31 3M Petition at 12. 
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1. Product Liability 
 
2. Negligence 
 
You are to consider each claim separately with 
respect to the plaintiff’s alleged injury.  If an 
instruction has a heading at the top that states 
“PRODUCT LIABILTIY” or “NEGLIGENCE,” 
the instruction applies that that claim, respectively. 

With respect to the plaintiff’s product liability 
claim, the plaintiff contends that the defendant sold 
an 8710 respirator that was not reasonably safe for 
use because: 

1. This product as designed was not reasonably 
safe; or 

2. This product was not reasonably safe because it 
did not contain adequate warnings or 
instructions. 

With respect to the plaintiff’s negligence claim, he 
contends that the defendant was negligent in one or 
more of the following respects: 

1. Failure to adequately warn foreseeable product 
users; 

2. Failure to test the products; 

3. Failure to substitute safe products; and/or 

4. Failure to remove the products from the market. 
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The plaintiff claims that one or more of these acts 
was a proximate cause of his injuries.  The 
defendant denies these claims and, further, denies 
the nature and extent of the plaintiff’s claimed 
injuries.32 

Based on the above instruction—which 3M did not challenge 

on appeal—the jury could have found that 3M was negligent by 

failing to test its 8710 mask, which presupposes that there was 

some “imperfection” with the 8710 that testing would reveal.  

This, by itself, is sufficient to justify the word “defect” in 

describing the mask. 

Similarly, the trial court’s instructions allowed the jury to 

find that 3M failed to exercise reasonable care by failing to 

substitute the 8710 with a safe product or remove it from the 

market because the mask had an “an imperfection or 

abnormality that impair[ed] [its] quality, function, or utility.”  

Finally, a jury finding that 3M was negligent in not “adequately 

warning foreseeable product users” required that there was 

 
32 CP 1663 (emphasis supplied). 
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some “deficiency” associated the 8710 that it should reasonably 

have warned about.  The Court of Appeals’ analysis of 

causation as it relates to the allegations of “defect” is fully 

consistent with the instructions the jury received from the first 

day of trial and the record on appeal.  No inconsistency in the 

opinion exists, and this, too, is not a proper reason to grant 

review under the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b).  

2. The Court of Appeals’ Decision Does Not Conflict 
with This Court’s Harmless Error Decisions. 

3M next claims that the Court of Appeals failed to 

conduct a harmless error analysis.  But the Court expressly 

analyzed prejudice and correctly determined that Plaintiffs were 

prejudiced by the erroneous jury instructions.  Specifically, the 

Court of Appeals determined that had the jury received the 

proper causation instructions, it could have concluded that 3M’s 

negligence was a substantial factor in causing Mr. Roemmich’s 

mesothelioma.   

To begin with, the Court’s opinion correctly concluded 

that the instructional errors were legal in nature and therefore 
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appropriately presumed prejudice.  A clear misstatement of the 

law is presumptively prejudicial.  Anfinson v. FedEx Ground 

Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 873, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).  

The proximate cause instruction is legally erroneous because 

the instruction did not properly inform the jury of the correct 

causation standard and allowed it to render its verdict on the 

incorrect legal standard.  Id. at 872 (presuming prejudice when 

the jury instructions presented the incorrect inquiry); Keller v. 

City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 251, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) (a 

jury instruction was legally erroneous to the extent that it 

allowed a jury to premise liability on an incorrect interpretation 

of the law).  

But the Court of Appeals also conducted a prejudice 

analysis, and its analysis is sound.  The Court observed that 3M 

explicitly relied on the erroneous “but for” instruction in 

closing and that the jury could have found for 3M under this 

erroneous standard.  This prejudice analysis is all that was 

required. See Capers v. Bon Marche, Div. of Allied Stores, 91 
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Wn. App. 138, 145, 955 P.2d 822 (1998) (opposing counsel’s 

arguments under the improper “but for” proximate cause 

standard demonstrated prejudice where substantial factor 

standard applied).   

Moreover, the prejudice is plain.  Remarkably, 3M 

claims that the “but for” instruction did not affect the outcome 

because the jury found that the product was not unreasonably 

unsafe.  Certainly, a harmless error does not warrant a new trial.  

Thus, if the jury had found that Plaintiffs had failed to meet 

their burden on both negligence and strict product liability, 

incorrect causation instructions could not have affected the 

outcome of the trial.  Here, however, the jury found that 3M 

was negligent, but that the defendant’s negligence was not a 

cause of Mr. Roemmich’s disease.  Thus, the erroneous 

causation instructions were far from harmless.  Indeed, the 

Court of Appeals acknowledged as much when it found that 

“the jury could have found that, although negligent, 3M was not 

the proximate cause of Roemmich’s injury because he would 
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have developed mesothelioma from his other asbestos 

exposures regardless of 3M’s negligent acts.”  Roemmich, Wn. 

App. 2d at 956.   

3M contends that it asserted throughout trial that Mr. 

Roemmich’s exposures could somehow be separated and that it

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